

NOTICE OF MEETING

Meeting: GENERAL PURPOSES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

Date and Time: FRIDAY, 18 JUNE 2021, AT 9.30 AM*

Place: COUNCIL CHAMBER - APPLETREE COURT, BEAULIEU

ROAD, LYNDHURST, SO43 7PA

Enquiries to: Email: andy.rogers@nfdc.gov.uk

Tel: 023 8028 5070

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:

Members of the public may listen to this meeting live on the Council's website at the following link:-

https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=146&Mld=7317

- *Members of the public may speak in accordance with the Council's public participation scheme:
- (a) immediately before the meeting starts, on items within the Committee's terms of reference which are not on the public agenda; and/or
- (b) on individual items on the public agenda, when the Chairman calls that item. Speeches may not exceed three minutes.

Anyone wishing to speak should contact the name and number shown above no later than 12.00 noon on WEDNESDAY 16 JUNE 2021.

Bob Jackson Chief Executive

Appletree Court, Lyndhurst, Hampshire. SO43 7PA www.newforest.gov.uk

This Agenda is also available on audio tape, in Braille, large print and digital format

AGENDA

Apologies

1. MINUTES

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 12 March 2021 as a correct record.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To note any declarations of interest made by members in connection with an agenda item. The nature of the interest must also be specified.

Members are asked to discuss any possible interests with Democratic Services prior to the meeting.

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

To note any issues raised during the public participation period.

4. MOBILE HOMES REGULATIONS 2020 (Pages 3 - 20)

To consider proposals for compliance with the Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person) (England) Regulations 2020, which set out the framework for a fit and proper person test for site licence holders, or a person appointed to manage the site, and related issues.

To: Councillors

Steve Clarke (Chairman)
Neil Tungate (Vice-Chairman)
Ann Bellows
Geoffrey Blunden
Rebecca Clark
Keith Craze
Arthur Davis
Barry Dunning

Councillors

Jacqui England
David Harrison
David Hawkins
Mahmoud Kangarani
Alvin Reid
Joe Reilly
John Ward

GENERAL PURPOSES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE - 18 JUNE 2021

THE MOBILE HOMES (REQUIREMENT FOR MANAGER OF SITE TO BE FIT AND PROPER) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2020

1. INTRODUCTION

- 1.1 The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person) (England) Regulations 2020, introduce the requirement that the owner or manager of residential caravan site must be a fit and proper person to manage the site.
- 1.2 This report provides the General Purposes and Licensing Committee with an overview of the new requirements placed on the local authority and seeks approval for the charging policy to cover these costs.

2. BACKGROUND

- 2.1 In July 2019, the Government launched a consultation to seek views on proposals to introduce a Fit and Proper Test for mobile site owners and managers in England following a review of park homes legislation. The purpose of the test was to improve the standards of park home site management.
- 2.2 In response to the consultation, the Government committed to implementing the test and introduced The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person) (England) Regulations 2020 (hereafter 'the Regulations').
- 2.3 The test will ensure that those responsible for operating the site licence and managing the site are of sufficient integrity and good character to be involved in the management of a regulated site for mobile homes. It will verify that the management of the site does not pose a risk to the welfare or safety of persons occupying mobile homes on the site.
- 2.4 Given that there are over 1400 residents in the New Forest District living on mobile home sites, this new legislation is of particular significance to them.
- 2.5 The Regulations give local authorities until 1 July 2021 to prepare to receive applications from site owners, establish their processes for decisions making and for a fit and proper person register. All site owners must submit an application for a relevant person to be assessed as a fit and proper person by 1 October 2021.
- 2.6 The local authority will consider the application in order to satisfy itself that the relevant person is a fit and proper person to manage the site. This will include considering information provided on the site owner and site, conduct of the relevant person in relation to offences committed and review of the criminal records certificate and also whether any other local authority has rejected an application for the responsible person.

- 2.7 A decision will be made as to whether to place the relevant person on the register for up to 5 years, with or without conditions, or not place them on the register.
- 2.8 A site owner can make a representation to the local authority against a decision or condition, which must be considered before making a final decision. There is a right of appeal to a First Tier Tribunal against any decision to reject an application, place the relevant person on the register for less than 5 years or include conditions.
- 2.9 The local authority has discretion to charge for their functions under the Regulations and if they decide to charge fees, they must prepare and publish a fees policy, prior to charging.

3. FEES POLICY

- 3.1 It is proposed that the Council should charge fees for the fit and proper functions in relation to the operation of relevant protected sites, for which it currently has 30 sites in the district.
- 3.2 The Council has a Relevant Protected Site Licensing Fees Policy (attached as **Appendix 1**) for existing fees relating to new applications for caravan sites, annual fees, alteration of conditions and charges for enforcement notices. The proposal to charge for fit and proper persons register applications has been included in the amended policy.
- 3.3 The fee policy sets out that the fees are payable for applications for an entry on the register and the matters which are taken into account when setting the fee. The fee is set to cover the cost of processing the applications and will be reviewed annually.
- 3.4 The Council may also set an annual fee to monitor the existing entries on the fit and proper persons register, including a review of attached conditions. This will also be reviewed annually.
- 3.5 Where the relevant person fails an assessment and the site owner is unable to identify and appoint a suitable alternative manager to undergo the fit and proper assessment, the local authority could appoint a person to manage the site with the consent of the site owner. The Council can recover reasonable costs incurred in making this appointment.

4. PROPOSED FEES FOR 2021-2022

- 4.1 The proposed fee for applications to be included on the register is £214 and the application must be accompanied by this fee for the application to be considered as valid. It is not refundable should the application be rejected.
- 4.2 It is proposed that there will be no annual fee for fit and proper person register entries based on standard conditions. However, should entries have specific conditions, there will be a proposed charge of £30 for one specific condition, £60 for two specific conditions and a fixed £90 for three or more specific conditions.

- 4.3 The proposed fees are considered to be fair, sufficient only to cover the costs associated with the application process and monitoring of conditions, and comparable to the limited benchmarking possible with other local authorities.
- 4.4 The fees will be subject to annual review and Member approval, in accordance with all other discretionary fees and charges. Consideration will be given to the extent of deficits or surpluses in the accounts for the annual fee for previous years.

5. REQUEST FOR DELEGATION OF POWERS

5.1 As the enforcing authority for the new regulations, it is recommended that the additional powers be delegated to respective posts by amendments to the delegations as follows;

Source	Power Delegated	Delegated to	
Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960, Part I as amended, including any Regulations made thereunder	(a) Sec 3 – to determine applications for caravan site licences and under Sec 8 – to change conditions attached to existing licences. Sec 10 – to transfer licences and to determine applications and under.	Executive Head, or Chief Planning Officer, or Service Manager	
	(b) To administer and enforce all the powers and duties of the local authority and the provisions of Part 1 of the Act, including any Regulations made thereunder, save for those specifically referred to in (a) above.	Executive Head, or Chief Planning Officer, or Service Manager, or Environmental and Regulation Team Manager, or Environmental Health Officers, or Environmental Health Technical Officers	

5.2 Delegations of the above powers supersede existing entries in the list of Council delegations and GP & L 116 should be deleted.

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There will be an increase on staff resource required to implement these Regulations. The charges proposed will cover the costs associated with this additional statutory function.

7. CRIME AND DISORDER, EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1 None.

8. CONCLUSION

- 8.1 The new Regulations have been introduced to provide higher standards for New Forest residents living on mobile home sites, by ensuring that site owners or managers are fit and proper to manage the site.
- 8.2 The Relevant Protected Site Licensing Fees Policy has been updated to include a fee policy for the fit and proper person function within the Regulations.
- 8.3 Proposed fees have been set for applications for inclusion on the register and to monitor specific conditions relating to the fit and proper person assessment.
- 8.4 The Council has additional enforcement powers in respect of fit and proper person assessments to ensure all sites comply with the new legal requirements.

9. RECOMMENDATIONS

- 9.1 The Committee approves the adoption of the amended Relevant Protected Site Licensing Fees Policy and supports the introduction of the Fit and Proper Person Test for residential caravan site licensing from 1 July 2021.
- 9.2 The Committee agrees to the proposed fees for applications for entry on the Fit and Proper Persons Register and the annual fee for an existing entry which specific conditions on the register.
- 9.3 The Committee approves the proposed delegation of powers as set out in Section 5 of this report and for its addition to the Council's scheme of delegations. The existing entries identified in 5.2 should be deleted.

For further information contact:

Name: Ben Stockley

Title: Food and Safety Team Manager

Tel: 023 8028 5348

E-mail: ben.stocklev@nfdc.gov.uk

Name: Joanne McClay

Title: Service Manager (Environmental and Regulation)

Tel: 023 8028 5325

E-mail: joanne.mcclay@nfdc.gov.uk

Background Papers:

List of residential mobile home sites in the New Forest District: Caravan site locations and rules - New Forest District Council

Appendix 1

New Forest District Council Relevant Protected Sites Fees Policy, Fees for 2021-2022 (Annex A)



NEW FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL

RELEVANT PROTECTED SITE LICENSING FEES POLICY

Date of issue - June 2021

Version Control

Version	Author	Date
1	Stephen Stone	7 March 2014
2	Ben Stockley	7 June 2021

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	3
2. Summary of the Legislation	3
3. Relevant Protected Sites in the New Forest	4
4. Legal Scope and Limitation of Applying Fees	4
5. Exemption from Paying Fees	5
6. Recharging of Fees by Licence Holders	5
7. General Principles of Fee Calculation	5
8. Elements Included in Fee Setting	6
9. Method of Calculation for each Type of Fee and when it is Payable	6
10. Charges for Enforcement Notices and Works In Default	8
11. Fees for Fit and Proper Persons Register Applications	9
12. Current Fees and Charges	10
13. Revision of Fees and the Relevant Protected Site Licensing Fee Policy	10
14. Questions about the fees policy	11

1. INTRODUCTION

- 1.1 The Mobile Homes Act 2013 (MHA 2013) was introduced in order to provide greater protection to occupiers of residential caravans and mobile homes. Parts of it were implemented on 26 May 2013. The MHA 2013 introduced some important changes to park home site licensing on 1 April 2014 by amending the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 (the Act). One significant change included the ability for Local Authorities to charge licence holders a fee for applying for a site licence, for amendments or transfers of existing licences, and for annual fees. The MHA 2013 also enabled the Authority to serve enforcement notices and to carry our works in default to remedy breaches of site licence conditions.
- 1.2 The Mobile Homes (Site Rules) (England) Regulations 2014 came into force on 4 February 2014 and set out the timescale (12 months from that date) in which site owners had the duty to propose new site rules and consult with home owners and any qualifying residents' associations about these rules, which would replace any existing rules. After that date, any previously existing site rules would cease to apply. Any new rules must be deposited with this Authority and published on the Council website.
- 1.3 The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person) (England) Regulations 2020, require that a local authority must be satisfied that the owner of a mobile home site is a fit and proper person to manage the site, or that a person appointed by the owner to manage the site is a fit and proper person to do so. The local authority also has the power to appoint a fit and proper person to manage the site, with the owner's consent. This legislation will be fully implemented on 1 July 2021.
- 1.4 As with the provisions contained under the MHA 2013 and the Site Rules Regulations 2014, Local Authorities can also charge a fee for the assessment of applications to be a fit and proper person. In this way, a large proportion of the work related to residential caravan sites is self-financing.
- 1.5 In order to be able to charge fees the Council must publish them within a Fees Policy. This New Forest District Council Relevant Protected Sites Licensing Fees Policy was first approved by the Council in 2014 and is amended to include addition fees associated with the legislative changes in 2021 outlined above. The existing agreed fees are shown in Annex A to this report, along with the proposed new fees in relation to the fit and proper persons registration.
- 1.6 The purpose of publishing the fee policy is to show that the fees imposed are fair and transparent and to enable anyone required to pay a fee to understand the charges.

2. SUMMARY OF THE LEGISLATION

- 2.1 The Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 (the Amended Act) came into force on 29 August 1960. This Act introduced a caravan licensing system to be operated by Local Authorities regulating the establishment and operation of caravan sites. It worked in conjunction with planning requirements in that only a caravan site with valid planning permission can apply for a site licence.
- 2.2 The Mobile Homes Act 2013 (MHA 2013) amended the above Act, and from 1 April 2014 introduced a scheme to enable local authorities to recover the service delivery costs associated with licensing 'relevant protected sites'. It also provided local authorities with additional regulatory powers in relation to these sites.

- 2.3 A relevant protected site is in essence one that is residentially occupied all year round. Such sites may range from a single caravan on a plot of land to many caravans on land in single ownership and includes residential caravans on holiday sites.
- in addition to allowing local authorities to charge for their regulatory work in relation to caravan sites The MHA 2013 introduced the ability for Local Authorities to serve compliance notices and to carry out works in default to remedy breaches of site licence conditions. The associated fees and charges are discussed later in this report.
- 2.5 The Mobile Homes Act 2013 also made amendments to the Mobile Homes Act 1983 Act in relation to site rules. The Mobile Homes (Site Rules) (England) Regulations 2014 gave site owners a 12-month period to propose and agree new site rules with site residents. Any new rules need to be deposited with the local authority, which will determine if the process has been properly followed and publish the rules on the Council website https://newforest.gov.uk/1281. At the expiry of the 12-month period any old site rules which had not been updated and agreed ceased to have effect.
- 2.6 The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person) (England) Regulations 2020, require that a local authority must be satisfied that the owner of a mobile home site is fit and proper person to manage the site, or that a person appointed by the owner to manage the site is a fit and proper person to do so. The local authority also has the power to appoint a fit and proper person to manage the site, with the owner's consent. This legislation will be fully implemented on 1 July 2021.

3. RELEVANT PROTECTED SITES IN THE NEW FOREST

3.1 As of May 2021, the Council was administering site licenses for 84 relevant protected sites of which 53 are single caravan sites. The total number of caravans on all these sites, excluding single caravan sites is over 1450.

4. LEGAL SCOPE AND LIMITATION OF APPLYING FEES

- 4.1 Section 3 (2A) of the Amended Act enables Local Authorities to require a fee in respect to a relevant protected site application.
- 4.2 Local Authorities may also charge a fee for alterations to licence conditions where these are requested by a licence holder or where an application to transfer the licence to another person/organisation is received (Section 8 (1B) and Section 10 (1A) of the Amended Act, respectively).
- 4.3 Section 5A (1) of the Amended Act enables Local Authorities to require an annual fee to be paid by licence holders in respect of licensed relevant protected sites.
- 4.4 The costs associated with monitoring conditions on sites for licensing matters can be included within annual fees. However, annual fees should not take into account any costs incurred in relation to enforcement activities such as serving compliance notices, emergency action, and works in default as these costs can be recovered by other means.
- 4.5 Section 10A (5) of the Amended Act states that the Fees Policy must include provision about the time at which the annual fee is payable.
- 4.6 Regulation 12 of The Mobile Homes (Site Rules) (England) Regulations 2014 permits a fee to be charged for the deposit, variation or deletion of site rules with a local authority.

4.7 Regulation 10 of The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person) (England) Regulations 2020 permits the local authority to determine the fee for an application or registration for someone to be added to the register. These fees may only cover the costs incurred by the local authority under its functions in Section 12 of Part 1 of the Amended Act.

5. EXEMPTIONS FROM PAYING FEES

- 5.1 Caravan Sites that are for holiday use only or are only permitted to have caravans stationed on them at certain times of the year are exempt from all licensing fees by virtue of not falling within the definition of "Relevant Protected Sites".
- 5.2 Local Authority owned sites whilst being Relevant Protected Sites, are also exempt from licensing and are therefore excluded from paying fees.
- 5.3 A site is exempt from the fit and proper person test if it is only occupied by members of the same family and is not being run as a commercial residential site.
- 5.4 In addition to the above, Section 10A(3) of the Amended Act enables Local Authorities to fix different fees or to determine that no fee is required to be paid in certain cases.
- 5.5 Using this provision, New Forest District Council has decided to exempt sites with 2 or less caravans from annual fees. This is because such sites are much less complex than larger sites, often have fewer site licence conditions (e.g. separation distances do not apply to single sites) than multiple sites, and the planned monitoring of these sites will be less frequent than those attracting an annual fee. In addition, the collection of annual fees from single twin pitch sites would not be cost effective, and any costs will be met through existing budgets.

6. RECHARGING OF FEES BY LICENCE HOLDERS

- 6.1 Licence holders were able to recover the cost of the annual licence fee through the pitch fee review in the first year that the licence fee became payable by the licence holder. Since then, any fees charged have been absorbed into the overall pitch fee with increases limited to an amount in line with the Retail Price Index.
- 6.2 Any fees to accompany an application for site licence conditions to be amended, or consent to transfer a licence may not be passed on by the licence holder via the pitch fee.
- 6.3 There is no provision within the Regulations which allows the site owner to pass on the fees associated with the fit and proper person test.

7. GENERAL PRINCIPLES OF FEE CALCULATION

The methodology relating to the calculation of fees is explained in this policy.

- 7.1 For setting the annual site licence fee, the methodology involved finding the cost of providing the service to all sites and dividing this cost between the total number of pitches in the District. This then becomes the fee a licence holder pays for each pitch on the site.
- 7.2 A similar approach has been used for setting the fit and proper person application process fee. A flat rate fee has been set for the consideration of all applications, based on the average time to process the application.
- 7.3 This approach averages out the charge and ensures that residents will not be adversely affected by higher costs involved with the complexities on some sites resulting from poor management.

- 7.3 The yearly fee for existing entries on the fit and proper persons register differs, as it charges a fee based on the number of conditions applied to the register for a given entry. It recognises that a register entry with more conditions attached to it is likely to take up more time in terms of ongoing monitoring. Register entries with fewer conditions are not disadvantaged by having to pay a proportion of an overall charge.
- 7.4 Officer costs are used in calculations and are established by using an hourly rate for each officer which includes the Council's on costs. Where more than one officer is involved in any particular work activity, an average of their hourly rates is used.

8. ELEMENTS INCLUDED IN FEE SETTING

- 8.1 Government guidance sets out the activities that the council can and cannot include when calculating its caravan site licensing function fees. A Local Authority can include:
 - handling enquiries and complaints;
 - letter writing/calls etc. to make appointments and request documents or other information from the site owner or any third party in connection with the licensing process;
 - updating hard files, computer systems, website and public register;
 - processing application and annual fees;
 - land registry searches
 - time for reviewing necessary documents and certificates;
 - time consulting the site owner and third parties;
 - preparing reports on contraventions;
 - preparing draft and final licences;
 - preparing preliminary and final decision notices;
 - review by manager / legal services;
 - carrying out any risk assessment process considered necessary;
 - reviews of decisions or in defending appeals;
 - A pre-programmed full site inspection and follow-up inspection or visit to ascertain if conditions are being met.
 - Preparing reports on breaches of conditions attached to fit and proper person register.
- 8.2 A local authority cannot take into account when setting fees costs incurred in exercising their functions under
 - Section 9A-9I Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 (the Amended Act) (relating to enforcement due to breach of licence conditions);
 - Section 23 of the Amended Act (prohibiting the siting of caravans on common land); or
 - Section 24 of the Act (the provision of caravan sites by local authorities).
- 8.3 In addition, section 10A(4)(b) of the Act prohibits a local authority from taking into account costs it incurs under the Act when setting fees, other than those relating to a relevant protected site.
- 8.4 No fees can be charged for holiday or other non-permanent residential sites. Sites which are in mixed use i.e. partly holiday with some permanent residential homes which fall within the definition of relevant protected site fees can therefore be charged.
- 9. METHOD OF CALCULATION FOR EACH TYPE OF FEE AND WHEN IT IS PAYABLE.
- 9.1 Application for a First Licence for a New Relevant Protected Single Caravan Site.

This fee relates to a new licence for a single caravan site. This is based upon the officer hourly rate multiplied by the predicted time taken to complete the work, as well as additional administrative costs.

The fee is payable on submission of an application for the licensing of a single caravan site. If the Council decides not to approve the application the applicant is not entitled to a refund of the fee paid.

9.2 Application for a First Licence for a New Relevant Protected Multiple Caravan Site.

This fee relates to a new licence for a site with more than one caravan. This is based upon the officer hourly rate multiplied by the predicted time taken to complete the work, as well as additional administrative costs.

The fee is payable on submission of an application for the licensing of a multiple caravan site. If the Council decides not to approve the application the applicant is not entitled to a refund of the fee paid.

9.3 Annual Fee for the Caravan Site Licensing Function

Annual fees are calculated by determining the total cost of providing the service for all licensed relevant protected sites with the exclusion of relevant protected single caravan sites. This is then divided by the total number of pitches on all these sites.

This calculation considers two main costs; firstly, fixed costs common to a monitoring visit at any site, such as pre and post visit administration, travelling and site meetings, and secondly, costs to inspect all pitches. In both instances the predicted time taken is multiplied by an officer average hourly rate. This generates an overall cost for the service at all sites. Annual fees do not take into account any costs incurred in relation to enforcement activities such as serving compliance notices, emergency action, and works in default as these costs can be recovered by other means.

This overall cost is divided by the total number of permitted caravans on all relevant protected sites licensed for more than one caravan in the district. This produces the annual fee per permitted caravan payable by the licence holder.

The annual fee payable by each licence holder is calculated by multiplying the cost per pitch by the total number of pitches on the site defined in the site licence conditions.

The annual fee is payable on or before 1 September for all relevant protected sites that are licensed for more than one caravan.

9.4 Alteration of conditions attached to a site licence

This fee relates to an application by the licence holder for changes in site licence conditions and/or the approved plan of the site as a result of increasing the number of caravans, changing the layout or increasing the land area of a site.

The method of fee calculation uses a predicted average cost for work involved in processing the application. This is based upon the average officer hourly rate multiplied by the predicted time taken to complete the work, as well as additional administrative costs.

The fee is payable on submission of an application for the amendment of conditions attached to a site licence. If the Council decides not to approve the application the applicant is not entitled to a refund of the fee paid.

9.5 Transfer of Site Licence

This fee relates to an existing licence which is to be changed into a new owner's name. A fee will not be charged where the site name or address of the licence holder is changed or where a joint licence holder is deleted from the licence and no new name is added.

The method of fee calculation uses a predicted average cost for work involved in processing the application. This is based upon the average officer hourly rate multiplied by the predicted time taken to complete the work, as well as additional administrative costs.

The fee is payable on submission of an application for the transfer of a site licence. If the Council decides not to approve the application the applicant is not entitled to a refund of the fee paid.

9.6 Fees for deposit of Site Rules for relevant protected sites

Site rules are different to site licence conditions in that they are neither created nor enforced by Local Authorities. They are a set of rules created by the site owner to which residents have to comply. They may reflect the site licence conditions but will also cover matters unrelated to licensing.

The Authority will need to satisfy itself that replacement or new rules deposited with it have been made in accordance with the statutory procedure. This prescribes how the site owner shall consult with homeowners and any residents' association. The Local Authority is also required to establish, keep up to date, and publish a register of site rules. In doing so the Authority may levy a fee for the depositing of site rules, or the variation or deletion of site rules.

The method of calculating the fee is derived from a predicted average cost of carrying out the necessary work by officers, including review of the process followed and publishing of the site rules.

It is payable each time there is a deposit, variation or deletion of site rules with this authority.

10. CHARGES FOR ENFORCEMENT NOTICES AND WORKS IN DEFAULT

- 10.1 Section 9A of the Amended Act allows Local Authorities to serve compliance notices on the occupier of the land where site licence conditions are breached. These notices will set out what the site owner needs to do to correct the breaches and the timescales, and the notice will attract a charge. Failure to comply with the notice would be a criminal offence, punishable by a fine at level 5 on the standard scale (currently £5000), and the site licence could be revoked upon a third or subsequent prosecution. Following a successful prosecution for breaching a compliance notice the Authority would be able to serve notice to enter the site and carry out the necessary works in Default.
- 10.2 In addition to this, Section 9E of the Amended Act allows a notice to be served on the occupier of the land enabling the Local Authority to enter the site and take emergency action where there is an imminent risk of serious harm.
- 10.3 The occupier of the land has the right to appeal to a residential property tribunal against a notice and charges imposed.
- 10.4 Section 9I of the Amended Act enables a local authority to charge interest from the operative date of a demand for expenses at a rate fixed by the authority.
- 10.5 Unpaid charges can be placed as a charge against the land. Enforcement costs are therefore not included in the calculation of the fees fixed by this Fees Policy.

10.6 Local Authorities have the power to reclaim expenses associated with carrying out necessary compliance works and/or emergency action. The charges would include the actual cost of the works, by a third party if necessary, and an appropriate sum for officer time, based on an hourly rate, and the cost of the administration of the charge.

11. FEES FOR FIT AND PROPER PERSONS REGISTER APPLICATIONS

11.1 Introduction

The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person) (England) Regulations 2020, require the manager of a site to be a Fit and Proper Person. Local authorities are required to introduce a fit and proper person test for mobile home site owners, or the person appointed to manage the site, unless they are eligible for an exemption under the Regulations. The Regulations allow local authorities to receive applications from site owners, or the person appointed to manage the site, from 1 July 2021 up to and including 30 September 2021.

A local authority must be satisfied that either the site owner is a fit and proper person to manage the site or, if the owner does not manage the site, that a person appointed to do so by the site owner is a fit and proper person to do so or has, with the site owner's consent, appointed a person to manage the site.

Where a site owner or their manager fails the fit and proper person test, and they are unable to identify and appoint a suitable alternative manager, who must pass the fit and proper person assessment, the local authority can instead appoint a person to manage the site, but only with the consent of the site owner.

11.2 Initial Application Fee

Regulation 10 permits the local authority to charge a fee for the processing of applications and this fee is contained within Annex A of this fees policy. This is to cover the cost of processing applications and will be reviewed annually.

The method of fee calculation uses a predicted average cost for work involved in processing the application. This is based upon the average officer hourly rate multiplied by the predicted time taken to complete the work, as well as additional administrative costs. It will be a fixed fee per application as it is deemed that the amount of work to process an application will be similar, regardless of the number of caravans on the site. Although most applications are likely to be relatively straightforward, it is recognised that a small number may require additional work, including the setting of conditions, and the preparation of preliminary and final notices. The predicated costs of dealing with such cases is included within the fixed fee.

The fee is payable upon application and consideration will only be given to an application when it is accompanied by the correct fee. If the correct fee is not included, the application will not be valid. The fee covers the application and is not refundable if we decide not to approve an application.

11.3 Annual Fee for an existing entry on the register

The authority may also decide the amount and frequency of any additional payments required by way of an annual fee. The purpose of the annual fee is to monitor the existing entries on the fit and proper persons register, including a review of attached conditions. As most entries on the fit and proper person register are for a period of 5 years, an annual fee would be payable on years 2, 3 and 4, unless the conditions are deleted as part of an annual yearly review.

It is proposed that all register entries will have a standard condition attached requiring the occupier to notify the local authority of any changes to the management arrangements, including any offences committed by the 'relevant person'. There will be no annual fee for register entries with this standard condition only.

Additional specific conditions attached to a register entry, in addition the standard condition above, will attract a fee. The method of calculating the fee is derived from a predicted average time taken to carry out the necessary work by officers including administration, multiplied by their hourly rate. It assumes that the time taken to monitor a register entry will be proportional to the number of conditions associated with that entry.

When additional specific conditions are added, they are accompanied by a further condition requiring payment each year of the annual fee. This condition is disregarded when calculating the annual fee. There will be a fixed fee for one additional condition, twice this fee for two additional conditions, and three times the fee for three or more additional conditions, as illustrated in the table below.

Annex A lists the proposed charge, depending on the number of additional specific conditions applied.

The annual fee is payable on or before 1 September for all fit and proper person register entries with one or more specific conditions.

11.4 Appointed Manager

Where the authority has, with the occupier's consent, appointed a person to manage a site, the authority will recover from the occupier the reasonable costs incurred or to be incurred in making the appointment in accordance with Regulation 10.

Costs that will be recovered will depend upon the agreement made by the local authority with the site owner. Advice will be sought from legal services prior to entering into any discussions or agreements relating to the appointment of a manager.

12. CURRENT FEES AND CHARGES

Current fees and charges are published on the New Forest District Council website: https://newforest.gov.uk/1280/Caravan-site/licence.

13. REVISION OF FEES AND THE RELEVANT PROTECTED SITE LICENSING FEE POLICY

13.1 The fees covered by this Fees Policy are subject to annual review to ensure that the functions they cover do not generate a profit. Adjustments will be made to the following year's fee as necessary to address any underspend or overspend.

13.1 Should a significant change in fees be required, then this Policy will be revised showing the reasons for any significant change and how any surpluses or deficits have been taken into account, and appropriate member approval obtained before publication.

14. QUESTIONS ABOUT THE FEES POLICY

14.1 If there are any queries or clarification required on any aspect of this Fees Policy you can contact Environmental Health at eandr@nfdc.gov.uk, by phone 023 8028 5230 or by post to Environmental and Regulation, New Forest District Council, Appletree Court, Beaulieu Road, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, SO43 7PA



Annex A

Existing Fees:

Fee Type	Agreed Licence Fees (2021 – 2022)
Application for a new single pitch site	£450
Application for a new multiple site	£637
Multiple licensed site annual fee (due on 1	£11 per permitted caravan
September)	
Transfer of site licence	£152
Alteration of conditions attached to an existing site	£312
licence	
Depositing site rules	£75
Enforcement Notices and Works in Default	Recovery from the occupier of
	expenses associated with carrying
	out necessary compliance works
	and/or emergency action (actual
	cost of works / officer time)

Proposed Fees to be added to the Fees Policy

Fee Type		
Application for entry on the Fit and	£214	
Proper Persons Register		
Yearly fee for existing entry on the	- £0 standard condition only	
Fit and Proper Persons Register	- £30 1 additional specific condition	
	- £60 2 additional specific conditions	
	- £90 3 or more additional specific conditions	
Local Authority appointed Site	Recovery from the occupier of reasonable costs	
Manager	incurred in making the appointment.	

